Károli Gáspár University of the Reformed Church in Hungary Doctoral School of Faculty of Law



Károly Kubisch

MTMT-identification number: 10060237 ORCID-identification: 0000-0003-0339-4343

Moral and regulatory aspects of criminal prosecution of trafficking in human beings

Summary of the Doctoral Dissertation

(The date of closing of the doctoral dissertation: January 1, 2021.)



Prepared on the basis of the PhD (doctoral) training application of the Home Affairs Scientific Council.

Head of the Postgraduate Doctoral School: Prof. Dr. Éva Jakab University professor, CSc, MTA

Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Andrea Domokos University professor

Budapest 2021

Table of contents

1.	Research overview	3
	1.1. Rationale for the choice of topic and definition of the research topic	3
	1.2. Justification of the fight against trafficking in human beings	4
2.	The methodological issues of the research	5
	2. 1. Summary of research concept and methodology	5
	2.1.1. Method of historical descriptive	5
	2.1.2. Method of legal analysis	5
	2.1.3. Dogmatic analytical method	6
	2.1.4. Method of legal comparison	6
	2.1.5. Qualitative in-depth interview	6
	2.1.6. Quantitative questionnaire method.	7
	2.1.7. Method of longitudinal quantitative questionnaire	8
	2.1.8. Method of file research and questionnaire	8
3.	Defining research goals	9
	3.1. Hypotheses of the dissertation	11
	3.2. The raising problems of the research.	11
	3.3. Organizations and persons participating in the research	12
	3.4. Quantitative research in a focus group on trafficking in human beings	13
	3.5. Structure and concept of the questionnaires	13
4.	Review of research analyzes performed	14
	4.1. A general description of a longitudinal quantitative research project conducted between 2014 and 2018	
	4.2. A brief description of the content research carried out in the framework of the PhD (doctoral) training competition of the Home Affairs Scientific Council	
	4.3. General presentation of the questionnaire research conducted among MPE HGM between 20 and 2019 on the basis of a cooperation agreement	
5.	Proposals made in the light of new scientific findings or de lege ferenda	17
	5.1. It is considered appropriate to place the facts of human trafficking among the crimes violating human dignity	_
6.	Review of the dissertation hypotheses through research	17
	6.1. Trafficking in human beings as a crime against human dignity	17
	6.2. A possible new formulation of the facts of human trafficking	18
	6.3. Trafficking in human beings is primarily an ethical issue and only secondarily a legal issue	18
	6.4. People in economically developed states sustain the human market with their orders	20
7.	Overview of key resources	21
8.	List of publications directly related to the dissertation.	32
9	Other publications	33

1. Research overview

1.1. Rationale for the choice of topic and definition of the research topic

The relevance of the choice of topic is justified by the phenomenon of trafficking in human beings, which is still flourishing in our time, as well as the serious social and regulatory issues that arise as a consequence. Human markets existing despite the efforts of international organisations and the European Union also make EU citizens and Member States' legislation to rethink in several respects. We are facing a paradigm shift in many respects, because, besides many others, the flourishing of human trafficking is only an indicator of a much more serious ethical, moral and cultural erosion. Criminal law regulation is also regularly and, in its proportions, extremely often faced with such a new challenge to which it must give immediate answers.¹ The ethical and moral issues of trafficking in human beings are also getting more difficult by the fact that with the information systems becoming accessible and general, virtual spaces become easily accessible to all people. For the law, criminal organisations and new areas of crime are still in the unmanageable and endless virtual space. The scouting of victims of human trafficking and the storage of their data also take place here – making it very difficult to prove and catch the perpetrators.

The dissertation conducts a scientific study of the complex phenomenon of human trafficking in a holistic approach. My main goal is to overview the legal, dogmatic and regulatory directions that the states of the international legal community, including Hungary, have chosen in order to discourage the harmful social phenomenon of trafficking in human beings. The dissertation follows the scientific position² that trafficking in human beings appears in the Hungarian legal system mostly due to international commitments. In terms of the regulation of trafficking in human beings, the dissertation takes into account the phenomenon that, moving away from the previous aspect of the protection against sexual crimes, is now gravitating towards strong human rights aspects. This justifies the comparative overview of the fundamental rights frameworks of individual states, in addition to the examination of specific criminal law regulations. As regards the EU and international instruments, I try to focus on those standards that set specific rules for each Member State.

¹ Cf. Amendment 9 to the Basic Law. https://www.parlament.hu/irom41/13647/13647.pdf (download: November

^{18, 2020)}

² Miklós, HOLLÁN: i.m. 235. p.

It is important to clarify the question of what discretion the national criminal legislative authorities³ still have in the intersection of the guarantees of fundamental rights laid down by the instruments providing for international and European joint action. The dissertation necessarily deals with the sociological phenomena that form the basis of trafficking in human beings. In a separate chapter, the dissertation analyses the ethical, moral, philosophy of law and legal theory issues, according to which the regulation of trafficking in human beings is rather one of the crimes against human dignity.

The dissertation does not cover international and European instruments that contain findings of the phenomenon of international trafficking in human beings concerning third countries, or do not set specific requirements for Member States.⁴ In my dissertation, I do not analyse and address the interrelations with migration-related trafficking in human beings. Nor do I touch on the rules on the protection of, compensation for or identification of victims. The dissertation covers the necessarily related issue of prostitution only in a limited way.

1.2. Justification of the fight against trafficking in human beings

I would like to support the relevance of the problem with a single sentence, which was said by Secretary of State VÍZKELETY Mariann: "In my view, trafficking in human beings is primarily a social phenomenon and only secondarily a legal concept." ⁵ Trafficking in human beings, as a social phenomenon, is a manifestation of all that is a mockery of our law-governed world. If trafficking in human beings, as the most serious crime against human dignity, flourishes, this means that there is a serious demand for it. And demand is usually made by individuals who are typically respected, law-abiding, exemplary members of their community. ⁶ Due to the follow-up nature of law, law enforcement authorities can only focus on violent behaviours created by the establishment, maintenance and operation of a demand-driven human market. They are neither able to manage nor solve the reduction in demand for the real source of the crime, the vulnerable, objectified victims. It is an illusion that only by punishing the market organisers, suppliers and operating staff can the demand to acquire a human object doing sexual or cheap work be eliminated.

_

³ Miklós, HOLLÁN: i.m. 35. p.

⁴ See the provisions of the European Council in response to foreign policy issues related to the situation in Libya and trafficking in human beings and illegal migration in the EU.

⁵ Mariann VÍZKELETY: Current issues of human trafficking, with special attention to the Hungarian situation https://www.kormany.hu/hu/igazsagugyi-miniszterium/igazsagugyi-kommunikatokert-felelos-allamtitkarsag/beszedek-publikaciok-interjuk/az-emberkereskedelem-aktualis-kerdesei-kulonos-képelemmel-a-magyar-helyzete (downloaded: January 19, 2021)

⁶ See the case of Gábor Kaleta, Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary of Lima. (V. 17.) KE revoked it by the President of the Republic because the Ambassador acted in violation of Section 204 (1) a), b) c) of Act C of 2012 when pornography depicting 19,000 minor children collected recordings on his office laptop.

2. The methodological issues of the research

The common foundations of the doctoral dissertation and research are axioms that are also recognized as valid by contemporary jurisprudence. Regarding the conceptual foundations, according to some researchers, it is not particularly relevant whether we reach the final conclusion through basic or applied research: the results of an applied research can also lead to knowledge and a change of approach concerning basic theories. ⁷This is increasingly true in jurisprudence, moreover, "all basic research has practical results, both in terms of specific knowledge and changes in method development". ⁸

2. 1. Summary of research concept and methodology

The summary of the research concept serves the purpose of making the system of multi-year complex research transparent, as well as presenting the related exploratory initial research. In the meantime, the coordination of the partial results of the research and the doctoral dissertation, which is being prepared in parallel, required changes. When developing the hypotheses and the final concept of the doctoral dissertation, I tried to preserve the outline of the profile of legal research. Due to the complexity of the phenomenon of human trafficking, I approached the analysis and evaluation of the current criminal law in force step by step with the help of several research methods accepted in jurisprudence.

2.1.1. Method of historical descriptive

With a descriptive historical overview of trafficking in human beings, I explore the symbiosis of European Christian culture and the institution of ancient slavery all the way back to the 20th century. The aim of the historical analysis is primarily to present the directions and concepts of the antecedents underlying the establishment of modern anti-slavery norms across nations. In the course of my research, I discovered the comprehensive research on slavery by the Reformed professor Ferenc Bajusz. I came across an original typed copy of the research manuscript in Germany, which I managed to purchase and study.

2.1.2. Method of legal analysis

Philosophical and legal-theoretical analysis of trafficking in human beings in the fight against modern slavery XVII. from the utopian⁹ thoughts of thinkers in 20th century, it travels the

⁷ Cf. FERGE, Zsuzsa: The stratification of our society. Economic and Legal Publishing House. Budapest, 1969. HÉRA, Gábor - LIGETI, György: Methodology - research of social phenomena. Osiris For Rent. Budapest, 2014, p. 44.

⁸ HÉRA, Gábor - LIGETI, György: Methodology i.m. (2014) ibid.

⁹ KANT, Immanuel: The Idea of the Universal History of Humanity from a World Citizen's Perspective Source: http://mek.niif.hu/06600/06616/html/#4 (Downloaded: February 5, 2021)

most important legal theory path leading to today's modern approach to rejection of slavery and all forms of exploitation in order to review the context of practical rule-making from the international to more human rights.

2.1.3. Dogmatic analytical method

The dogmatic analysis of the regulation of trafficking in human beings aims to provide an overview of the question of how an abstract general rule formulated in international treaties raises questions within a local linguistic, contextual and conceptual framework, and how it can work.

2.1.4. Method of legal comparison

With the comparative analysis of the anti-trafficking regulations of the individual states, I want to review the differences and identities of the local peculiarities in order to be able to interpret for myself how different the regulatory directions differ from the Hungarian normative regulations. In the comparison of laws, of course, I could only undertake a textual comparison of the individual rules, because on the one hand, I did not have the opportunity to get to know the examined states more deeply culturally, linguistically and. The selection of the subject of the study was based on the fact that European states include states that are founding members of the European Union, constitutional monarchies, parliamentary democracies, and later socialist states that joined later. In selecting non-European states, I definitely wanted to look at two states: the United States and the Russian Federation as the dominant powers. I chose the Federal Republic of Brazil because they were extremely willing to respond to my letters to the embassy, thus helping to carry out my research. In addition, Brazil has an extremely long document of almost three hundred pages of very detailed fundamental rights. During its review, it is forbidden to discover specific rules related to human trafficking contained in the Hungarian Basic Law.

2.1.5. Qualitative in-depth interview

In the chapter describing the child protection perspective, I would like to present, in a qualitative in-depth interview, the solution that a highly developed democratic state with a different culture applies to the most serious perpetrators of human trafficking, while respecting human rights. In the course of the in-depth interview, I present a protection system that has been operating in the United States, California for nearly thirty years, and has come under the authority of the authorities as perpetrators of violent sexual or other exploitative

crimes against children. The anonymized interview was given to me by P. K., who has worked in penitentiary institutions for more than twenty-five years as an employee of the State of California. Initially, she served as a health assistant at the Atascadero Institute for Penitentiary and Mind Observation in Coalinga, later as a health assistant there, and now as a nurse in the mental departments of the State Hospital of Coalinga.

2.1.6. Quantitative questionnaire method

The criminology-type complex system questionnaire primarily attempts to explore groups in the lagging strata in special life situations. The questionnaire also asks about age, gender, origin, willingness to comply, and credit beliefs. The evaluation of all the details of the large-scale complex questionnaire could not be presented in the dissertation because it alone would have exceeded the available framework, so after the operationalization I decided to report only the details closely related to the dissertation.

- 1. Definition of the research topic (2015)
- 2. Preliminary orientation (held between 2015 and 2016)
- 3. Research goals hypothesis was defined in 2016 and 2017. (It was then that I conducted some basic interviews in which we clarified the main questions, and the main topic was what questions could be asked to Roma people.)
- 4. The research plan was prepared and finalized between the end of 2017 and the beginning of 2018.
- 5. Data collection, fieldwork was realized in 2018 and 2019.
- 6. Data analysis, data cleansing, records were entered into statistical software in 2020.
- 7. The results were summarized, presented and included in the dissertation at the end of 2020.

The questionnaire consists of five sets of 111,104 records after data cleansing, and was completed by a total of 867 individuals.

The first, so-called general data set, applies to all respondents and asks questions about county, age, gender, religiosity. The person who did not answer the question "religious beliefs" was already excluded from the respondents. As the research was published within the ranks of the Hungarian Pentecostal Church and nationwide, acquaintances and family members could also fill in the questionnaire. Respondents were also asked to belong to their nationality on a self-reported basis, but only Roma were treated as separate statistics, as I tried to focus on the most vulnerable group. Respondents were divided into four sets based on their answers to the questions.

2.1.7. Method of longitudinal quantitative questionnaire

I examined the analysis of the effectiveness of Hungarian action against human trafficking in the framework of time-shifted longitudinal, quantitative research, with the help of a specific focus group, which included experts from non-governmental organizations, church professionals, and victim assistants with legal degrees. I built the first concept in 2013, during which I worked on the definition of the research topic, the topic of human trafficking and the issue of related crimes. During the elaboration of the concept and the questions, the focus was on the definition of the target group and the issues raised during the internship at the Ministry of the Interior's Department for Combating Trafficking in Human Beings, with Deputy Secretary of State Berta Krisztina and Péter Stauber. With regard to the target group, all persons who dealt with victim assistance or related legal issues were eligible.

The staff of the Ministry of the Interior, as well as a number of excellent researchers and practitioners, assisted me in setting the research goals and raising the hypotheses.

With the research questionnaire, I analyzed the responses of the target group at two time points in 2014 and 2018 in the framework of quantitative-based longitudinal research.

2.1.8. Method of file research and questionnaire

Within the framework of a special research conducted with the investigators of the Anti-Trafficking Subdivision of the Standby Police, National Investigation Bureau, I wanted to make a law enforcement assessment with the help of the experts closest to the phenomenon. The duration of the implementation of the tasks specified in the Internship Research Implementation Plan officially lasted from 12 October 2017 to 28 February 2018. According to the defined methodology of the research, I carried out a substantive, forensic and legal review of a total of 7 files and 16 544 pages of files containing the detection and investigation of human trafficking and other related crimes.

CASE NUMBER ¹⁰	PAGES	SUSPICION ¹¹
29022/2013BÜ.	700	Proceedings against József Cs. and others were comitted
		for the crime of commercial procurement
29022/2015BÜ.	752	Proceedings against Attila B. and others were comitted for
29022/2013 D U.	132	the crime of commercial procurement
		Proceedings against Attila B. (pseudonym of Attila T.)
29022/2013BÜ.	800	were committed for the crime of commercial procurement
		and for other crimes
29022/2015BÜ.	500	Proceedings against Zoltan B. and others were committed
		for the crime of commercial procurement, child

¹⁰ 6/2006. (BK.4.) The research agreement concluded for the purpose specified in point 7 b) of the BM instruction does not allow the case numbers of the processed files to be indicated in the publication, so they are not referenced in a recognizable way.

¹¹ In order to preserve the anonymity of investigative material declassified, no further details are provided.

		prostitution and for other crimes
29022/2012BÜ.	700	Proceedings against Gabor Zs. and others were committed for the crime of commercial procurement and for other crimes comitted in criminal organization
29015/ 2009BÜ.	1092	Gyorgy B. and othert were prosecuted for trafficking in human beings and other crimes.
29022/2012BÜ.	12 000	Proceedings against Tamás L. and were committed for the crime of commercial procurement and other crimes, committed in a criminal organization.
Total: 7 files	16 544 pages	

Figure 1.: I examined the files of the crimes listed in the table at the Anti-Trafficking Division

This part of the dissertation contains the research data in which I wanted to gain the criminological knowledge accumulated by investigators working in the field of forensics with the help of a complex questionnaire. Questionnaire research at the investigating authority cannot be considered as quantitative research, as there were only thirteen. Before the questionnaire was circulated with the help of the instructor, many of them also managed to clarify complex professional, forensic and criminal law issues. I compiled some of the questions of the questionnaire taking into account the content of the conversations with the instructor and the investigators, their practical experiences and suggestions.

I also tried to use the knowledge accumulated by the investigators, because I consider it important that the forensic opinion of the everyday user of the law, the professional experts of the investigative authority, appears in my research.

3. Defining research goals

The aim of the research is to contribute to a more accurate understanding of the phenomenon of human trafficking, thus helping to seamlessly adapt Hungarian regulations to international models and to eradicate this serious crime. During the research, taking into account the provisions of the Code of Ethics of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences¹², I took care of the personal data of the persons providing the information, their integrity and the maintenance of the promised anonymity. The doctoral dissertation includes research on human trafficking conducted between 2014 and 2019. In addition to the dogmatic issues of human trafficking regulation, the focus of the research is on the applicability of the facts and the social assessment of the material weight of trafficking in human beings.

I consider child protection to be a means of preventing human trafficking, so in the Child Protection Outlook section, I analyze the U.S. state of California's regulations against children and other sex offenders. With the help of an in-depth interview, I present the closed post-sentence rehabilitation institution for traffickers and sex offenders, especially to the detriment of children and women.

_

¹² Code of Ethics. Hungarian scientific Academy. Budapest, 2010. http://old.mta.hu/data/cikk/11/97/91/cikk_119791/etikai_kodex_net.pdf (downloaded: 18/07/2019)

The hypotheses of the dissertation were compiled from the partial results of different researches in space and time, as well as after the analysis of the final results obtained. When developing the original concept, I focused on the criminal sciences, later - due to the complexity of the issue - in addition to the sociological, criminological and forensic issues, I also considered it necessary to review the child protection regulations. It has become my conviction that one of the most effective means of preventing human trafficking is to be found in a well-functioning system of child protection.

I. In the historical part of the dissertation, I would like to follow the assumption that slavery was abolished in Christianity in medieval Europe, and that the existence of modern slavery, human trafficking, is due to the weakening of Christianity in Europe.

II. The XVII-XVIII. civil and political freedoms of the 19th century, then ECOSOC rights of the 20th century and the With the development of third-generation collective human rights at the international level in the 20th century, supranational human rights organizations are taking over, formulating and condemning the phenomenon of human trafficking. Large international organizations have formulated the eradication of human trafficking and its condemnation as a condition of belonging to a civilized community of law. By joining the rule of law, states make it mandatory to interpret and exist the phenomenon as interpreted by international organizations. For this reason, supranational organizations are entitled to comprehensive audits of the legal and social effectiveness of the fight against human trafficking. With the intensification of human rights in the twenty-first century, international organizations are also gravitating the interpretation of the phenomenon of human trafficking in this direction, and they are also trying to enforce this over the local legislation and interpretation of the law of the participating states. As a result, there is some uncertainty in two areas. On the one hand, itemized criminal law instruments are not sufficient against an abstract and highly diversified social phenomenon, and there is no consensus on the definition of human rights violations caused by human trafficking (such as human freedom, human dignity, freedom of selfdetermination, etc.).

III. A systematic set of criminal law subjects brings together the specific partial legal facts protecting the direct subject matter. The taxonomic list also provides guidance on the legal interpretation intended by the legislator. The current taxonomic location of human trafficking and forced labor dates back to the 18th century. under Chapter I is one of the crimes against human freedom in addition to the crime of kidnapping and coercion. It is necessary to examine whether, according to the interpretation issued by international organizations, the

facts of trafficking in human beings, which directly and seriously violate human dignity, are systematically appropriate.

IV. Trafficking in human beings is a social phenomenon with many political, sociological, fundamental, civil, child protection, offense and criminal aspects. In crime prevention, the state strives to eliminate phenomena that are dangerous to society before it can exert its negative effects. From a crime prevention perspective, it seems evident that the roots of trafficking in human beings, which is deeply entrenched in the lowest strata of society, can be weakened by child protection rules that also focus on human trafficking. This is because many trafficking-related offenses are mainly targeted at minors and, in child protection terminology, young adults under the age of twenty-five who are still entitled to aftercare. It is an almost common fact that predators of a predatory nature can operate specifically in those social strata and circles where the number of neglected, abused, homeless, vulnerable, injured persons is high. In this circle, there will be marketable persons who are aesthetically, in terms of their physical performance, suitable for delivery to customers as goods. Child protection as a means of prevention is also an important area at the level of education, as reducing the phenomenon of human trafficking - in addition to protection in childhood - can be effective through widespread knowledge expansion.

3.1. Hypotheses of the dissertation

- Trafficking in human beings primarily violates the human dignity, and only secondarily touch the victim's personal freedom.
 - From the point of view of the development of Hungarian law, the starting point of
- 2. human trafficking is primarily a moral and ethical problem and only secondarily a legal issue.
 - In more economically developed states, there are hidden groups that maintain the human
- 3. market with their orders at the expense of vulnerable social groups living in peripheral states.

3.2. The raising problems of the research

The doctoral dissertation is based on the premise that trafficking in human beings entered the Hungarian legal system through international commitments and was not created through organic development. The emergence of human rights in modern societies has placed the living conditions of the state, society, and citizens on a new footing, with the result that they cannot be compared to premodern societies. In premodern societies, equality and equal

opportunities did not exist. According to Niklas Luhmann's theory, premodern societies were stratified societies: "sufficient. Therefore, functional differentiation has become the dominant principle of organization in the development of Western societies". Whereas in the past the individual had to exercise a social function fixed at birth, modern societies are based on functional differentiation based on equal opportunities at birth: this is the key to the modernity of modern societies. Everyone was born free and his chances are equal, so the unequal chances of premodern societies are replaced by the equal chances of starting for everyone in modern societies. Trafficking in human beings is an indicator of the functioning of modern societies, the existence of which, as one of the most serious crimes against human dignity, points in the direction of premodern societies.

Several series of researches conducted for my doctoral dissertation, conducted in total between 2014 and 2019, clearly and concisely expose the issue that the facts of sterile human trafficking described in the Penal Code are seldom established. Trafficking in human beings constitutes a complex system with exploitation, forced labor, organ trafficking and the needs of the related customer side, all the way to trends in child protection, which seriously damage human dignity for a long time.

3.3. Organizations and persons participating in the research

I started the legal dogmatic research necessary to set up the hypotheses and to specify the questioning by reviewing the relevant legislation, literature, and domestic and international criminal data on trafficking in human beings. Further expanded bases of data collection include fieldwork¹⁴, visits to criminal locations¹⁵, questionnaires, personal interviews, and a six-month file search at the Anti-Trafficking Division of the National Investigation Bureau's Investigation Department. The dissertation does not include all the research carried out, because after the evaluation it would have partially increased the scope to a huge extent, on the other hand, some parts of it were classified as criminal sociological rather than criminal research. Of course, after operationalization and detailed evaluation, those data will also be published in a separate article.

_

¹³ POKOL, Béla: The logic of politics in the approach of Niklas LUHMANN and Carl SCHMITT. In Clarity. 2003 / 7-8. 58. p.

¹⁴ Strengthening social cohesion EFOP-1.3.7-17 Applicant (s) on the community development activities of churches: consortium of the Hungarian Pentecostal Church and the Váltó Sáv Foundation; Location: 6300 Kalocsa, Petőfi Sándor Street Sports Complex; Application ID: EFOP-1.3.7-17-2017-00067.

¹⁵ I enclose a map with my research, in which I marked the areas and locations where the research took place. See https://sites.google.com/view/kubisch-kutatas/kutatási-terület (downloaded August 30, 2018)

On the results of the file search, on the fourth of May 2018, "I Serve My Country!" I reported at a national conference 16 called, and the data obtained from it are an integral part of this doctoral dissertation. A brief presentation of Sate Hospital, which is linked to the special rehabilitation system of US penitentiaries, may also broaden reintegration opportunities in Hungary.

3.4. Quantitative research in a focus group on trafficking in human beings

A total of approximately 1,735 individuals participated in the quantitative-based complex questionnaire research series and provided evaluable answers to the questions asked. All questionnaires guarantee complete anonymity and compliance with the applicable Hungarian¹⁷ and European Data Protection Regulations (GDPR)¹⁸. We did not collect or store any identifiable data from those who completed the questionnaire. In the course of my research, I took into account the Code of Scientific Ethics and the Memorandum issued by the Hungarian Academy of Sciences, which was adopted by Resolution No. 25/2010 (V. 4.) of the General Assembly of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences. One of the strong ideas of the Code of Ethics is that "moral knowledge is the basis of pure thought and literacy. And ethical science is the system of this knowledge; an order maintained by the assumption and representation of human values that have been jointly professed and fought". 19

In the case of submitted answers, the county marked as a lifestyle residence by the respondent concerned is saved. The provision of criminal personal data as well as origin data was completely voluntary - without identification. This clause also applies to investigators working in the Anti-Trafficking Subdivision, who responded to the questions asked voluntarily in a questionnaire survey, with the prior consent of the commander.

3.5. Structure and concept of the questionnaires

In 2014 and 2018, I used the questionnaires following the principles of the longitudinal methodology to find out how natural persons working in the legal, social and child protection fields know and feel the material weight of the crime of trafficking in society²⁰, how important

²⁰ KUBISCH, Károly: The social assessment of the material weight of rafficking in human beings. In HUNGARIAN ORDER 16: (1) 77-95. pages, (2016).

¹⁶ KUBISCH, Károly: Forensic Issues in the Investigation of Trafficking in Human Beings in Crime Organizations: Summary of a Content Research Project In Prof., Dr. SZABÓ, Miklós (ed.) Studia Iurisprudentiae Doctorandorum Miskolciensium 97-115, pp. 18.

¹⁷ Act CXII of 2011 on the right to information self-determination and freedom of information law.

¹⁸ EU Regulation 2016/679 on the protection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data (GDPR).

¹⁹ Code of Ethics of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences 5 p

it is to recognize victims of trafficking and helping. When evaluating incoming research results from identical issues that differ in time, we can experience a number of positive development trends, however, it cannot be denied that there are issues where a decline can be seen.

The questionnaire research linked to the case study was conducted with the help of investigators, detectives and investigating officers working in the Anti-Trafficking Subdivision. The questionnaire was completed by all Subdivision staff members, which I would like to thank again. The questionnaire seeks answers to the effectiveness of cooperation between victim support, crime prevention, law enforcement and civil society organizations, church legal entities and non-governmental organizations in the changed legal environment created by the European Directive²¹ on Combating Trafficking in Human Beings. In the last question of the questionnaire, I asked about the coherence and applicability of certain relevant sections of the Hungarian Penal Code.

The criminological questionnaire has a complex system and essentially consists of four intermediate questionnaires that attempt to explore specific life situations related to age, gender, origin, willingness to comply, and credit beliefs. I was able to complete the questionnaire and the work done with the help of the MPE Hungarian Roma Mission and the Roma Methodological and Research Center (CIMOK), as well as with the support of other internal ecclesiastical legal entities²², and it was completed by a total of 867 individuals. The elements of the questionnaire are the same for everyone: the gender, age, social network usage habits and credit beliefs of the person completing the questionnaire. During the operationalization performed during the processing of the questionnaire - taking into account the scope of the dissertation - I presented only the most important questions and answers in the dissertation.

4. Review of research analyzes performed

For the dissertation, I conducted three independent researches between 2014 and 2019. Examining the day-to-day application of the rules on human trafficking, I developed a questionnaire based on the principles of legal hermeneutics, in which I sought the answer to how the law applies to human trafficking and how it can be interpreted, applied and distinguished from other rules, the official enforcer, the ecclesiastical person the relevant law. Does the person working with it consider the promulgated legislation to be appropriate and

_

 $^{^{21}}$ Directive $2011/36\,/\,EU$ of the European Parliament and of the Council. Of 5 April 2011

²² MPE Diakonosz Support and Service Center (copy of the grant agreement attached to the dissertation).

aware of it as the addressee? To formulate questions, I took into account the issues raised during the in-depth and mixed interviews with each actor.

In the research, I used non-probability sampling to determine the core population, because I was primarily interested in the answers of a specific group of people²³ to fill in the questionnaires. According to the theory of research methodology, the "expert selection" method and the "snowball technique" defined were the most obvious. The first case was necessary because I selected the target group on the basis of the information data set that I already knew about the elements of the target population: what education, interest and roughly what age, etc.

The snowball technique, on the other hand, was induced by reaching another target group to be studied. This methodological choice was made in order to reach Christian Roma belonging to small churches, who qualify as a multiple hiding population. The opinions and preferences of the target group to be studied were obtained by persuading a group to participate in the research with the help of some leading members of the group. For this, I collected data in advance, through which I was able to involve more and more people (belonging to the target group) in the research.

Thus, a total of 1,735 individuals participated in the research series, thirteen of whom were investigators dealing with the issue in the Anti-Trafficking Subdivision of the KR FEBEO of NYI.

4.1. A general description of a longitudinal quantitative research project conducted between 2014 and 2018

I built the first criminal law and victim support research concept in 2013, during which I worked on the definition of the research topic, the topic of human trafficking and the issue of related crimes. Among the preliminary briefings, the target group was defined by the focus and the issues raised during the internship at the Ministry of the Interior's Department for Combating Trafficking in Human Beings - Deputy Secretary of State Berta Krisztina and Péter Stauber. With the research questionnaire, I measured the responses of the target group at two time points, in 2014 and 2018, from which I drew a conclusion on the phenomenon of human trafficking in the framework of quantitative-based longitudinal research.

 $^{^{23}}$ In non-probabilistic sampling, the selection of items from the population is not random targeted.

4.2. A brief description of the content research carried out in the framework of the PhD (doctoral) training competition of the Home Affairs Scientific Council

The research was carried out between 2017 and 2018 in the framework of a project supported by the Home Affairs Scientific Council in the framework of the content research project of the Detection Department of the National Investigation Bureau of the Standby Police, the Anti-Crime Department, the Anti-Trafficking Division. In the research, the head of the National Bureau of Investigation on Trafficking in Human Beings helped me with the practical implementation of the questions and the research. The duration of the implementation of the tasks specified in the Internship Research Implementation Plan officially lasted from 12 October 2017 to 28 February 2018. According to the specific methodology of the research, I carried out a content, forensic and legal review of a total of 7 files and 16 544 pages of decryption and detection of human trafficking and other related crimes, the results of which I submitted to the Home Affairs Scientific Council and presented at doctoral conferences.

4.3. General presentation of the questionnaire research conducted among MPE HGM between 2016 and 2019 on the basis of a cooperation agreement

The third criminological research was initially planned only in Békés county with the help of the MPE Hungarian Gypsy Mission (MPE HGM), within the framework of qualitative and quantitative research. Primarily to assess sociological, lifestyle, and crime-related relationships, but practice overwrote my plans on a number of issues. In defining the quantitative target group, I tried to differentiate between believing Christians and Roma, based on their own decision. The questionnaire processed the responses of four target groups: thus, I divided the questionnaire into believers and non-believers, and into a set of Roma and non-Roma individuals. In the research, I was also curious about ethnicity, because I found this attribute important in terms of the cultural and socialization differences in the given responses when analyzing the different types. To do this, I had to choose the method of self-declaration. In the definition of the target group and the questioning, László S. in the Roma house group in Körösnagyharsány on September 26, 2017, with the participants of the Sarkad Roma Christian group in Békés county on September 27, 2017 and with the leaders of the Roma house group²⁴ in Mezőberény on September 28, 2017, I made it with the help of László V. and László A. of Roma origin. In the mentioned home-praying groups, I also carried out a socalled mixed interview qualitative research in the framework of a personal interview, which mainly helped the questioning, the elaboration of the concept and the field survey.

As the sole interviewer, I met the interviewees in person here - giving me the opportunity to discuss even the most complex and personal issues at length. During the application of the

-

²⁴ A Christian-minded community who, in addition to church Sunday occasions, undertake to help each other and solve their problems, building a friendly relationship with each other based on mutual acquaintance.

quantitative questionnaires, we worked with a questionnaire placed on the Internet, but there were also volunteer interviewers who - visiting the areas inhabited by Roma - helped the respondents to access the questionnaires with the help of an IT tool with an independent internet connection. With this, I tried to reduce the problems arising from the disadvantage of the focus group (difficulties in accessing the Internet). In addition to the quantitative survey, we also obtained qualitative data, but in the end I did not place these interviews in the dissertation. The main reason for this was that the discussions at times were extremely lengthy and difficult to keep in check.

5. Proposals made in the light of new scientific findings or de lege ferenda

5.1. It is considered appropriate to place the facts of human trafficking among the crimes violating human dignity

Based on the fundamental rights and dogmatic research chapters of the dissertation, I see it as clearly proven that victims of trafficking in human beings only seem to suffer harm to their human freedom: in fact, the inner personal core of their human dignity is violated.²⁵ The Constitutional Court ruled in 6/2018. (VI. 27.) AB states in his resolution that the dignity of human dignity as a personality together with human life means the human essence. Dignity is the uplifting and unconditional command of our human quality and value, the rank of our human essence. It is as much a priori value as life, which expresses the human dimension of existence. Human existence and human dignity are inseparable, both of which are inalienable, immanent, essential in nature²⁶. Damage to this inner core occurs when a person is trafficked and made a commodity by a trafficker. The reasoning attached to section 192 of Act C of 2012 also states that "under the right to human dignity, it is inadmissible for a person to become a trader himself". Article 3 (3) of the Basic Law states that "trafficking in human beings is prohibited." Man cannot, therefore, be the object of sale: the peculiar factual situation primarily protects human dignity. It is therefore justified that the facts of trafficking in human beings, taking into account international instruments, are more relevant in the 21st century under the heading "Crimes against human dignity and certain fundamental rights".

6. Review of the dissertation hypotheses through research

6.1. Trafficking in human beings as a crime against human dignity

The fundamental rights research of the dissertation also proved that although states do not clearly define the criminal status of human trafficking, international instruments, apart from some translation anomalies, clearly place the fact of human trafficking as a violation of human dignity.

²⁶ See the parallel opinions of LÁBADY, Tamás and TERTYÁNSZKY, Ödön in 23/1990. (X. 31.) AB decision.

²⁵ 23/1990. (X. 31.) Resolution AB - on the unconstitutionality of the death penalty "every human being has an innate right to life and human dignity, from which no one may be arbitrarily deprived".

Therefore, as a de lege ferenda proposal, it may be justified to systematically reclassify the criminal record of trafficking in human beings as a crime against human dignity. Victims of human trafficking seem to be harmed in their human freedom, in fact, the inner personal core of the human dignity of the victims is damaged, and this is a fact that also makes reparation and reintegration difficult in the future. Nor do most victims realize that human dignity is extremely fragile and requires serious protection.

Perhaps the systematic "reclassification" of human dignity is also unfortunate, as it differs from the systematic structure of the Basic Law - suggesting that there are much more important legal issues than human dignity which are subject to criminal protection. Of course, it is undeniable that the structural priorities of criminal protection may be different from the constitutional structure, for example, the scope of crimes against humanity and war crimes may precede direct legal entities for the protection of life and physical integrity. At the same time, it is worth considering whether the range of crimes against the order of health intervention and research, as well as crimes against health, human freedom or freedom of sexual life and crimes against sexual morality, rightly precede human dignity, knowing that the birthright of all this is human dignity.

6.2. A possible new formulation of the facts of human trafficking

Act 192 is based on Article XXI. of the Hungarian Penal Code to reclassify it under the category of crimes against human dignity and certain fundamental rights is a possible presentation in my dissertation, which you are looking for V.1.2. chapter of dissertation.

6.3. Trafficking in human beings is primarily an ethical issue and only secondarily a legal issue

As a first suggestion, I examined whether the claim that the starting point of human trafficking (desacralization, dehumanization and sale, transfer, exchange for consideration) and its stages of realization (work-based sexual exploitation or removal of its organs) is primarily ethical problem and only secondly is a question of law. In addition to my research, in addition to the regulation of many states, international documents and their interpretations clearly prove that the statement is true - with the proviso that while law may approach from an ethical and moral point of view, there is no doubt that positive law does not move at home in this dimension. We find these issues in the preambles of constitutions and in the introductions and principles of laws. So a positive legal approach is hard to know what to do with moral

issues in the more realm of natural law. However, even in the moral-based approach, we can only partially find a solution to the issue.

With regard to the ancient and medieval regulations examined in historical review, prostitution, the slave trade, was accepted, so we can consider it an integral part of ancient Greek and Roman society and culture. In my historical descriptive research, I have focused on whether Christianity has brought about a fundamental and enforceable change in slavery. In Europe, thanks to the laws of the Old Testament, the issue of slavery has developed differently, but we cannot say that slavery, or the subordinate position of women, has been abolished by Christianity. What we can safely say is that it also allowed the slave a sense of freedom by restoring the honor of physical labor, thus psychologically normalizing the situation of those in bondage. The proof of my claim is that through the Middle Ages, various forms of slavery were also accepted in the New Age. This fact has not fundamentally changed since the Enlightenment, as there is also modern slavery in our modern world, operating in a complex system of human rights, operated and served by trafficking in human beingsnetworks. Slavery was not abolished by Christianity, yet human trafficking, as a form of modern slavery, appears in society as a serious violation of moral and moral norms. Nevertheless, the transmission of Christian ethical and cultural aspects by credible individuals can only have a positive effect on victims and perpetrators of human trafficking. As my survey in an earlier article shows²⁷, human trafficking is not primarily a crime that attacks subjective feelings of security, but violates moral norms and human dignity built on Christian culture. For this reason, the issue cannot be resolved by legal means alone. So the answer is yes, my research proves that the Christian value system can induce a change that can result in even complete regeneration of victims of trafficking.

The modern Western societies today seek to shake off Christian moral ethical norms: the system given by religion, to abolish the family, the nations, in order to bring about the supremacy of individual self-realization. Trafficking in human beings moves on essentially the same theoretical plane, severely attacking the fundamental pillars of man and society. While the destruction of religion, desacralization, and the destruction of culture can go unpunished, human trafficking has become a serious crime, not because of its ethical social destruction, but because the object of sale is unmarketable goods whose purchase and distribution are illegal. I would close the foundations that seriously attack human dignity mentioned above with the words of the previously quoted René Descartes, who in his

²⁷ KUBISCH, Károly: The social assessment of the material weight of trafficking in human beings. Hungarian Police 16: 1 pp. 77-95., 19 p. (2016).

progressive theory sees the desacralized man in his free will the perspective that makes us lord of ourselves and ultimately like God. It is now clear that man cannot become a god, he only destroys his dignity first and then himself.

6.4. People in economically developed states sustain the human market with their orders

From 2007 to 2020, TIP Reports²⁸ issued by the U.S. State Department regularly indicated that "Hungarian Roma children are being exploited in a number of ways within the country, forcing them to beg or commit minor crimes, and to become victims of trafficking for sexual purposes." The U.S.'s far-reaching aid reports are based on a strategy developed by the U.S. that, for example, put \$ 1.4 billion in the 2005 fiscal year at the service of human rights and democracy, along with a wide range of diplomatic tools. Guided by the noble goal of "helping others find their own voice, realize their own freedom, and go their own way." So the reports released signal the continued and coordinated efforts of the United States and other democracies in all regions of the world to protect democratic systems.

I researched its ethnic, cultural, and victimological aspects in a longitudinal study conducted in 2014 and 2018.

61.2% of those surveyed in 2014 said there was no correlation between becoming a victim and the ethnicity of the individuals involved.

According to 60.3% of those surveyed in 2018, there is an ethnic link between becoming a victim and the ethnicity of the individuals involved.

According to 76.5% of respondents to the 2014 questionnaire, there is a correlation between becoming a victim and the education of the persons concerned.

According to 63.2% of respondents to the 2018 questionnaire, there is a correlation between becoming a victim and the educational attainment of those affected.

According to 76.5% of those who completed the 2014 questionnaire, victims of human trafficking may report becoming victims.

According to 89.2% of those who completed the 2018 questionnaire, victims of human trafficking cannot make themselves victims.

The results of the research show that government awareness programs conducted between 2014 and 2018 had a positive impact on respondents in many respects.

²⁸ See the U.S. Department of State TIP Report: https://en.usembassy.gov/en/our-relationship-en/official-reports-en/ (download: 7/15/2021)

²⁹ See the USA TIP Report: Human Trafficking Report - 2015. https://en.usembassy.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/232/2017/07/tip2015_en.pdf (download: 2021/07/15/2015)

³⁰ see the US Strategy for Human Rights and Democracy Source: https://en.usembassy.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/232/2017/07/shrd2005_strategy_en-1.pdf (download: 7/15/2021)

According to my research, the European Union's anti-trafficking policy cannot be described as effective. According to the data collection³¹ of the EU Data Collection on Trafficking in Human Beings in 2018, despite a number of measures, the number of victims of trafficking is steadily increasing, with only nearly half of the proceedings and prosecutions being final.

At the same time, the European Union is helping the Member States to act effectively with a number of institutions and provisions, but it cannot be a major success.

In addition, the casualty nature of the issue is enhanced by the fact that the Group of Experts on Trafficking in Human Beings of Europe Council (GRETA) usually deals with migration, asylum and trafficking issues, which sheds light on the assessment and meaning of trafficking.³²

The facts of human trafficking in the periods under review were not the current facts in force from 1 July 2020. The core population of those surveyed in a non-representative survey in 2014 was 98 individuals, 35.7% of whom were unable to provide any correct answers to human trafficking questions. 23.5% of respondents gave a correct answer in 10%, 31.6% gave an accurate answer in 50%, and 9.2% of respondents gave a 100% answer. The first measurement showed that those working in the field did not know exactly the essential elements of the facts of human trafficking and could not properly distinguish it from other similar crimes.

The respondents to the 2018 questionnaire, which works with a population of 756, show a completely different picture. 30.2% of the respondents gave a 100% accurate answer to the questions asked regarding the separation of human trafficking from other crimes. If we add the 20.6% of respondents who are 50% correct, in summary, 50.8% of respondents understand and accurately identify human trafficking incidents.

7. Overview of key resources

- Ádám Antal: Alkotmányi értékek és alkotmánybíráskodás. Osiris Kiadó. Budapest, 1998.
- 2. Adler Freda Laufer William S. Mueller Gerhard W.: Kriminológia. Osiris Kiadó. Budapest, 2000.
- 3. Ancsel Éva: Az aszimmetrikus ember. Kossuth Könyvkiadó. Budapest, 1989.
- 4. Ancsel Éva: Éthosz és történelem. Kossuth Könyvkiadó. Budapest, 1984.
- 5. Anzenbacher, Arno: Bevezetés a filozófiába. Carthapilus Kiadó. Budapest, 2001.

_

³¹ Data collection on trafficking in human beings in the EU Final report. Forrás: https://ec.europa.eu/anti-trafficking/sites/antitrafficking/files/study_on_data_collection_on_trafficking_in_human_beings_in_the_eu.pdf (download: March 18, 2021)

³² GRETA Expert Group on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings - 2018 Report on Hungary pursuant to Rule 7 of the Rules of Procedure. Evaluation of the implementation of the Council of Europe Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings.

- 6. Arrizabalaga, Jon-Henderson, John-French, Roger: The Great Pox. The French Disease in Renaissance Europe. Yale University Press. New Haven and London 1997.
- 7. Arronson, Elliot Tavris, Carol: Történtek hibák (de nem én tehetek róluk) Az önigazolás lélektana. AbOvo Kiadó. Budapest, 2009.
- 8. Árva Zsuzsanna: Kommentár Magyarország Alaptörvényéhez Jogtár Kommentár, Wolters Kluwer Kiadó. Budapest. 2019.
- 9. Augustinus, Marcus: Vallomások. Gondolat Kiadó. Budapest, 1982.
- 10. Ayrer János Kristóf: Disputatio de morbo Hungarico. Basilieae 1631.
- 11. Bajusz Ferenc: Az ókori rabszolgák helyzete és sorsuk alakulása a kereszténység hatása alatt. Teológiai Doktori Értekezés. Teológiai Tanulmányok. Budapesti Református Akadémia Kiadó. Budapest, 1969.
- 12. Bebel, August: Charles Fourier élete és eszméi. Gondolat Kiadó. Budapest, 1962.
- 13. Beccaria, Cesare: Dei delitti e delle pene A bűnökről és a büntetésekről (Madarász Imre ford.) Eötvös József Könyvkiadó. Budapest, 1998.
- Békefy Lajos Birkás Antal: Protestáns szociáletika. Calvin J. Teológiai Akadémia Kiadó. Komárom, 2017.
- 15. Bencsik Gábor: A cigányokról. Magyar Mercurius Kiadó. Budapest, 2008.
- Berta Krisztina: A szervezett bűnözés. In kriminológia-szakkriminológia, Complex Kiadó, Kft. 2012.
- 17. Bibó István: Összegyűjtött írásai az Európai fejlődés értelme. I. kötet. (Szerk. Dénes István Zoltán). Kalligram Kiadó, 2016.
- 18. Bibó István: Válogatott tanulmányok. Első kötet 1935-1944. Magvető Kiadó. Budapest, 1986.
- Bíró Béla: A prostitúció. Magyar Királyi Rendőrség Országos Szaktanfolyamainak Kiadványa. Budapest, 1933.
- 20. Blosius Sebestyén: De febri Ungarica. Tubingae, 1626.
- 21. Bócz Endre: Kriminalisztika. I. kötet. BM. Duna Palota és Kiadó. Budapest, 2004.
- Borbíró Andrea Gönczöl Katalin Kerezsi Klára Lévay Miklós: Kriminológia.
 Wolters Kluwer Kiadó. Budapest, 2016.
- 23. Buji Ferenc: Tat Vam Aszi szolipszizmus és a tradicionális metafizika. Nyíregyháza, 2018.
- 24. Chronowski Nóra: Szabadsághoz és személyi biztonsághoz való jog. In Emberjogi enciklopédia (szerk. Lamm Vanda). HVG-ORAC Kiadó. Budapest, 2018. 637.
- 25. Cleophas Mihály: De febre maligna Hungarica. Wittebergae, 1662.

- 26. Cohen, Albert K.: Deliquent Boys. Glencoe, 1955. 36. In Merton Robert K.: Társadalomelmélet és társadalmi struktúra. Gondolat Kiadó Budapest, 1980.
- 27. Cohen, Albert K.: Ragazzi delinquenti. Feltrinelli Kiadó. Milano, 1955.
- 28. Concha Győző Újkori alkotmányok I-II. MTA Kiadó. Budapest, 1884-1888.
- 29. Czine Ágnes: Az emberkereskedelem, mint a szervezett bűnözés egyik megjelenési formája. PhD értekezés. Pécsi Tudomány Egyetem, konz. Tóth Mihály. 2013.
- Csizmadia Andor Kovács Kálmán Asztalos László: Magyar Állam- és Jogtörténet.
 Budapest, nemzeti Tankönyvkiadó 1998.
- 31. Descartes René: Librairie Philosophique Jacques Vrin. (Euvres szerk): Charles Adam, Paul Tannery. Paris, 1996.[eredeti kiadás: 1897-1913])
- 32. Domokos Andrea Nemes Zsófia: Tételek, gondolatok a kriminológia tudományából. Patrocinium Kiadó. Budapest, 2016.
- 33. Domokos Andrea: A családon belüli erőszak büntetőjogi és társadalmi megítélése. Patrocinium Kiadó. Budapest, 2017.
- 34. Domokos Andrea: Elméletek az erőszakról. In. Domokos Andrea (szerk): Katona bűnelkövetők az erőszakos bűnözés. Magyar Kriminológiai Társaság Kiadó. Budapest, 1998.
- 35. Doros Gábor Melly József: A nemi betegségek kérdése Budapesten. II.köt. Budapest Székesfőváros Házinyomdája. Budapest, 1930.
- 36. Dubcsik Csaba: A magyarországi cigányság története történelem a cigánykutatások tükrében, 1890-2008. Osiris Kiadó. Budapest, 2009.
- 37. Dupcsik Csaba: Magyarországi cigányok/romák a hétköznapi és a tudományos diskurzusok tükrében. MTA Társadalomtudományi Kutatóközpont Szociológiai Intézet. Budapest, 2018.
- 38. Durkheim, Émile: A bűnözés normális jelenség 9-15. In Gönczöl Katalin Kerezsi Klára (szerkesztők): A deviancia szociológiája. Szöveggyűjtemény Budapest, Hilscher Rezső Szociálpolitikai Egyesület, 1996.
- 39. Durkheim, Émile: Az öngyilkosság. Közgazdasági és Jogi Kiadó. Budapest, 1967.
- 40. Eco, Umberto: Cinque scritti morali. (Öt írás az erkölcsről). Európa Kiadó. Budapest, 1998.
- 41. Eisei Fülöp: De febre castrensi seu Polonica et Hungarica. Erfordiae, 1716.
- 42. Engels, Friedrich: Hogyan "forradalmasítja" a Eugen Dühring úr a tudományt? Anti-Dühring. Szikra Kiadó. Budapest, 1950.

- 43. Fehér Lenke Forrai Judit: Prostitúció prostitúcióra kényszerítés emberkereskedelem. Szociális és Családügyi Minisztérium megbízásából OOK-Press Kiadó. Budapest, 1999.
- 44. Fehér Lenke: Emberkereskedelem. In Emberjogi enciklopédia (szerk. Lamm Vanda). HVG-ORAC Kiadó. Budapest, 2018.
- 45. Ferge Zsuzsa: Magyar Társadalom- és szociálpolitika 1990-2015. Osiris Kiadó. Budapest, 2017.
- 46. Ferge Zsuzsa: Társadalmunk rétegződése. Közgazdasági és Jogi Könyvkiadó. Budapest, 1969. In Héra Gábor Ligeti György: Módszertan a társadalmi jelenségek kutatása. Osiris Kiadó. Budapest, 2014.
- 47. Festinger, Leon Riecken, W. Henry Schachter, Stanley: When Prophecy fails. University of Minnesota Press. Minneapolis, 1957.
- 48. Filó Erika- Katonáné Pehr Erika: Gyermeki jogok szülői Felelősség. HVG-ORAC Lapés Könyvkiadó Kft. 2015.
- 49. Flexner Abraham: Die Prostitution in Europa. Walter Fiebig. Berlin, 1921.
- 50. Földi András Hamza Gábor: A római jog története és institúciói. Nemzeti Tankönyv Kiadó. Budapest, 1996.
- 51. Földi András (szerk.): Összehasonító jogtörténet. ELTE Ötvös Kiadó. Budapest, 2016.
- 52. Frege Gottlob: Logika Szemantika Logika. Gondolat kiadó. Budapest, 1980.
- 53. Frege Gottlob: Logikai vizsgálódások második rész: a tagadás. Osiris Kiadó. Budapest, 2000.
- 54. Freud Sigmund: A halálösztön és az életösztönök. Múzsák Kiadó. Budapest, 1991.
- 55. Friedlaender, Ludwig: darstellungen aus der sittengeschichte roms. (Gerog Wissowa) Verlag von S. Hirzel. Leipzig, 1921. III. k.
- 56. Fuker Frigyes Jakab: De salubritate et morbis Hungáriáé. Lipsiae, 1777.
- Fukuyama, Francis: A történelem vége és az utolsó ember. Európa Könyvkiadó.
 Budapest, 2014.
- 58. Füzes Miklós: Modern rabszolgaság magyar állampolgárok a Szovjetunió munkatáboraiban 1945-1949. Formatív Kiadó. Budapest, 1990.
- 59. Gáva Krisztián Smuk Péter Téglási András: Az Alaptörvény értékei Értékkatalógus. Dialóg Campus Kiadó. Budapest, 2017.
- 60. Georgi András Gáspár: De febre Hungarica. Erfurtii, 1687.
- 61. Gerencsér Balázs Szabolcs: "Nyelvében él..." ISBN: 978-615-80150-5-9. Nemzetstratégiai Kutatóintézet. Budapest, 2015.
- 62. Gopcevich György: Specimen históriae febris Hungaricae. Ticini Regii, 1840.

- 63. Gönczöl Kerezsi Korinek Lévay (szerk): Kriminológia szakkriminológia. Complex Kiadó. Budapest, 2012.
- 64. Görgényi Ilona: Viktimológia. In Kriminológia szakkriminológia. (szerk. Gönczöl-Kerezsi-Korinek-Lévay). Complex Kiadó. Budapest, 2012.
- 65. György László Egyensúlyteremtés a gazdaságpolitika missziója. Századvég Kiadó. Budapest, 2017.
- 66. Győry Tibor: Morbus hungaricus. Pesti Lloyd-Társulat Könyvnyomdája. Budapest, 1900.
- 67. Habermas, Jürgen Ratzinger Joseph: A szabadelvű állam morális alapjai. Barankovics Alapítvány-Gondolat Kiadó. Budapest, 2007.
- 68. Habermas, Jürgen: Esszé Európa alkotmányáról. Atlantisz Kiadó. Budapest, 2012.
- 69. Hajdú József: rabszolgaság és kényszermunka tilalma. In Emberjogi enciklopédia (szerk. Lamm Vanda). HVG-ORAC Kiadó. Budapest, 2018.
- 70. Hajdú Lajos: Az 1795-ös magyar büntetőkódex-tervezet. KJK Budapest, 1971.
- 71. Halasy-Nagy József: A politikai tudomány kezdetei. Franklin-Társulat Könyvnyomda. Budapest, 1942.
- 72. Halász Iván (szerk.): Alkotmányjog. Dialóg Campus Kiadó. Budapest, 2018.
- 73. Halmai Gábor Tóth Gábor Attila (szerk.): Emberi jogok. Osiris Kiadó. Budapest, 2008.
- 74. Hare D., Robert: Kímélet nélkül. Háttér Kiadó. Budapest, 2011. 16.
- 75. Hart Herbert L. A.: Jog, szabadság, erkölcs. Osiris Kiadó. Budapest, 1999. 63.
- 76. Havas Gábor Liskó Ilona: Szegregáció a roma tanulók általános iskolai oktatásában. (ISBN 963 404 398 4) Felsőoktatási Kutatóintézet Kiadó. Budapest, 2005.
- 77. Havas Gábor Zolnay János: Az integrációs oktatáspolitika hatásvizsgálata. Kutatási beszámoló. Európai Összehasonlító kisebbségkutatásokért Közalapítvány, 2010.
- 78. Hegedűs István Juhász Zsuzsanna Karsai Krisztina Katona Tibor Mezőlaki Erik Szomora Zsolt Törő Sándor: Kommentár a Büntető Törvénykönyvről szóló 2012. évi C. törvényhez. Wolters Kluwer Kiadó. Budapest, 2017.
- 79. Hegel, Georg Wilhelm Friedrich: A jogfilozófia alapvonalai vagy a természetjog és államtudomány vázlata. (ford. Szemere Samu a fordítást ellenőrizte Eredi László és Peschka Vilmos). Akadémiai Kiadó. Budapest, 1971. 127-186 oak (105-157 §§).
- 80. Heidegger Martin: Lét és idő. Osiris Kiadó. Budapest, 2007.

- 81. Heka László Jakó Nóra Mikes Lili Pongó Tamás Szakály Zsuzsa: Nemzeti alkotmányok az Európai Unióban című tanulmányát. Wolters Kluwer Kiadó. Budapest, 2016.
- 82. Héra Gábor Ligeti György: Módszertan Társadalmi jelenségek kutatása. Osiris Kiadó. Budapest, 2014.
- 83. Hodossy Gedeon Doros Gábor: Küzdelem a leánykereskedés és a prostitúció ellen. Budapest, Arany János Nyomdai Rt. Kiadó. Budapest, 1935.
- 84. Hollán Miklós: Emberkereskedelem. HVG-ORAC Kiadó. Budapest, 2012.
- 85. Horváth Ágota Landau Edit Szalai Júlia (szerk.): Cigánynak születni. Tanulmányok, dokumentumok. Társadalom Alapítvány Új Mandátum. Budapest, 2000.
- 86. Horváth Attila: A szocialista állam és jogtudomány. In A jog tudománya (szerk. Jakab András- Menyhárd Attila). HVG-ORAC Kiadó. Budapest, 2015.
- 87. Horváth Éva Lengyel Judit Ónody-Molnár Dóra Tóth Melinda: Pandóra szelencéje. Független Médiaközpont. Budapest, 2011.
- 88. Jakab András- Menyhárd Attila (szerk.): A jog tudománya HVG-ORAC Kiadó. Budapest, 2015.
- 89. Jakab András- Menyhárd Attila: A jog tudománya. HVG-ORAC Kiadó. Budapest, 2015.
- 90. Jakab András: A magyar alkotmányjog-tudomány története és jelenlegi helyzete. in: Jakab-Menyhárd (szerk.): A jog tudománya. HVG-ORAC Kiadó. 2015.
- 91. Jánossy Ferenc: Alkotmányok gyűjteménye I-II. Pfeiffer Kiadó. Pest, 1861-1867.
- 92. Jany János: Jogi kultúrák Ázsiában. Typotex Kiadó. Budapest, 2016.
- 93. Jhering, Rudolf von: Küzdelem a jogért. In jog és filozófia (szerk. Varga Csaba). Osiris Kiadó. Budapest, 1998.
- 94. Juhász Pál Pethő Bertalan: Általános pszichiátria I. kötet pszichopatológia. Medicina Kiadó. Budapest, 1983. 288.
- 95. Juhász Pál Pethő Bertalan: Általános pszichiátria. II. kötet. Betegségtan és terápia. Medicina Könyvkiadó. Budapest, 1983.
- 96. Justus Pál: Claude-Henri de Saint-Simon válogatott írásai. Gondolat Kiadó. Budapest, 1963.
- 97. Kant Immanuel: Az erkölcsök metafizikájának alapvetése, A gyakorlati ész kritikája, Az erkölcsök metafizikája. Gondolat Kiadó. Budapest, 1991.
- 98. Karsai Krisztina (szerk.): Nagykommentár a Büntető Törvénykönyvről szóló 2012. évi C. törvényhez. Wolters Kluwer Kiadó. Budapest, 2020.

- 99. Karsai Krisztina (Szerk.): Nagykommentár a Büntető Törvénykönyvről szóló 2012. évi C. törvényhez. (lezárva: 2019. január 1.) Wolters Kluwer Hungary Kiadó. Budapest, 2019.
- Kautsky Karl: A kereszténység eredete. Népszava-könyvkereskedés Kiadó. Budapest,
 1922.
- 101. Keenan Marie: a gyermekek szexuális bántalmazása és a katolikus egyház Gender, hatalom és szervezeti kultúra. Oriold és Társai Kiadó Budapest. 2017.
- 102. Kegyes-tanítórendiek vezetése alatt álló kath. főgymnasium értesítője az 1875-1876-iki tanévről. Nyomatott Wajdits József Gyorssajtóján. Nagy-Kanizsa, 1876.
- 103. Kelsen, Hans: Értékítéletek a jogtudományban. In Varga Csaba (szerk.) Osiris Kiadó. Budapest, 1998.
- 104. Kemény István Havas Gábor: "Cigánynak lenni". 1996. In Társadalmi riport. Andorka Rudolf - Kolosi Tamás - Vukovich György (szerk.). TÁRKI, Századvég. Budapest, 1996. 352–380.
- 105. Kemény István Havas Gábor: "Cigánynak lenni". 1996. In: Társadalmi riport 1996 Andorka Rudolf, Kolosi Tamás, Vukovich György (szerk.). Budapest: TÁRKI, Századvég.
- 106. Klaus, Václav Weigl, Jirži: Népvándorlás. Századvég Kiadó. Budapest, 2018.
- 107. Korinek László: a XX. századi bűnözéselméletek. In. Gönczöl Kerezsi Korinek Lévay (szerk.): Kriminológia szakkriminológia. Complex Kiadó. Budapest, 2012.
- 108. Krafft-Ebing, Richard von: Törvényszéki elmekórtan tankönyve. Magyar Tudományos Akadémia Kiadó. Budapest, 1885.
- Kuhn, Thomas Samuel: A tudományos forradalmak szerkezete. Osiris Kiadó. Budapest,
 2000.
- 110. Kun Miklós: Sztálin alkonya. Unicus Kiadó. Győr, 2012.
- 111. Kuritárné Szabó Ildikó Tisljár-Szabó Eszter (szerk.): Úgy szerettem volna, ha nem bántottak volna a családon belüli gyermekkori traumatizáció: elmélet és terápia. Oriold és Társai Kiadó. 2015.
- 112. Kurt Lewin: Csoportdinamika. Közgazdasági és Jogi Kiadó. Budapest, 1975.
- Legutko Ryszard: A demokrácia csúfsága. Attraktor Kiadó. Máriabesnyő Gödöllő,
 2005.
- 114. Lénárd Ferenc: A lélektan útjai. Franklin Kiadó. Budapest, 1947.
- 115. Lewin Kurt: Csoportdinamika válogatás Kurt Lewin műveiből (Mérei Ferenc szerk.).
 Közgazdasági és Jogi Kiadó. Budapest, 1975.

- 116. Lewin, Kurt: Csoportdinamika. Közgazdasági és Jogi Kiadó. Budapest, 1975. Ligeti György: Cigány népismereti tankönyv a 7-12. osztály számára. Konsept-H Könyvkiadó. 2016.
- 117. Losonczy István: Jogbölcseleti előadások vázlata. (szerk. Varga Csaba) Szent István Társulat az Apostoli Szentszék Könyvkiadója. Budapest, 2002.
- 118. Löw Tóbiás: A Magyar Büntetőtörvénykönyv a büntettekről és vétségekről és teljes anyaggyűjteménye. II. kötet. (Csemegi kódex) Pesti Könyvnyomda-Részvény-Társaság Kiadó. Budapest, 1880.
- 119. Madarászné Zsigmond Anna: A tiszta logika alapkérdései Pauler Ákos logikája. Akadémiai Kiadó. Budapest, 1965.
- 120. Majtényi Balázs Majtényi György: Cigánykérdés Magyarországon 1945-2010. Libri Kiadó. Budapest, 2012.
- 121. Malkin, Craig: A nárcizmus pszichológiája hogyan ismerjük fel és kezeljük az önimádókat. HVG-ORAC Kiadó. Budapest, 2017.
- 122. Márok Soma: Az Alkotmánybíróság határozata az összbüntetésről A normavilágosság követelménye és a diszkrimináció tilalma a halmazati és az összbüntetés egymáshoz való viszonyában. In Jogesetek Magyarázata 2018/2.
- 123. Mérei Ferenc: Bevezetés. In Kurt Levin: Mezőelmélet a társadalomtudományban. Gondolat kiadó. Budapest, 1972.
- 124. Merton, Robert K.: Társadalomelmélet és társadalmi struktúra. Gondolat Kiadó. Budapest, 1980.
- 125. Merton, Robert King: Társadalomelmélet és társadalmi struktúra. Osiris Kiadó. Budapest, 2002.
- 126. Mirandola, Giovanni del Pico: Az ember méltóságáról. 1485.
- 127. Molnár Gábor- Belovics Ervin- Sinku Pál: Büntetőjog II. 2012. évi C. törvény alapján. HVG-ORAC Lap- és Könyvkiadó. 2012.
- 128. Moór Gyula: A jogbölcselet problémái. Magyar Szemle Társaság Kiadó. Budapest, 1945.
- 129. Moór Gyula: A szabad akarat problémája. Sylvester Kiadó. Budapest, 1943.
- 130. Moór Gyula: Tegnap és holnap között. Révai Kiadó. Budapest, 1947.
- 131. Morus, Thomas: Utópia (ford. Kardos Tibor). Cartaphilus Kiadó. Budapest, 2011.
- 132. N. Rózsa Erzsébet: Az arab tavasz a közel kelet átalakulása. Osiris Kiadó Külügyi és Külgazdasági Intézet. Budapest, 2015.
- 133. Nagy Ferenc: A magyar büntetőjog általános része. HVG-ORAC, Budapest, 2010.

- 134. Nagy Ferenc: Régi és új tendenciák a büntetőjogban. Akadémiai Kiadó. Budapest, 2011.
- 135. Nagy Pál: Magyarországi cigányok története a rendi társadalom korában. Csokonai Vitéz Mihály Tanítóképző Főiskola Kiadója. Kaposvár, 1998. 26. In: Gyetvai Gellért Rajki Zoltán: Cigánymissziós mozgalmak hatása Magyarországon. Cigány Módszertani és Kutató Központ, 2014.
- 136. Nagy Szilvia Szabó Anna Eszter: Egyetemista lány támogatót keres. XXI. Század Kiadó. Budapest, 2015.
- 137. Napoleoni Loretta: Emberkereskedők hogyan tették a dzsihádisták és az Iszlám Állam milliárdos üzletté az emberrablást és a menekültcsempészetet? HVG könyvek.

 Budapest, 2017.
- 138. Naszádi Kriszta: Őszintén a cigányokról Szabóné Kármán Judit romológussal beszélget Naszádi Krisztina. Harmat Kiadó. Budapest, 2012.
- 139. Nietzsche, Friedrich Wilhelm: A morál genealógiája. Attraktor Kiadó. Máriabesnyő, 2019. 22.
- 140. Nietzsche, Friedrich Wilhelm: Im-ígyen szóla Zarathustra. Wildner Ödön (ford.) Grill Károly Kiadó. Budapest, 1908.
- 141. Offner, Robert: Hans Jordan 16. századi kolozsvári polgár családi bibliájának német nyelvű feljegyzése. Erdélyi Múzeum. Idea Kiadó. Kolozsvár, 2019.
- 142. Ormos Mária: Hitler. Kossuth Kiadó, Budapest, 2018,
- 143. Ormos Mária: Mussolini. Kossuth Kiadó. Budapest, 2019.
- 144. Paulus Julius: Digesta 207 de verborum signification lib. 50 tit. I. 1-3.
- 145. Pelle János: Antiszemitizmus és totalitarizmus. Jószöveg Műhely Kiadó. Budapest, 1999.
- 146. Pikler Gyula: A jog keletkezéséről. Politzer Zsigmond Könyvkereskedő Kiadása. Budapest,1897.
- 147. Pokol Béla: Jogelmélet. Századvég Kiadó. Budapest, 2005.
- 148. Pokol Béla: Morálelméleti vizsgálódások a közmorál eltüntetésének kritikája. Kairosz Kiadó. Budapest, 2010.
- 149. Pokol Béla: Társadalomtudományi trilógia. Rejtjel Kiadó. Budapest, 2011.
- 150. Prónai Csaba (szerk.): Olaszország válogatás Zatta, Jane Dick Piasere, Leonardo Manna, Francesca Tauber Elisabeth -Trevisan Paola tanulmányaiból. Cigányok Európában sorozat 2. Új Mandátum Könyvkiadó. Budapest, 2002.

- 151. Radbruch, Gustav: A jogeszme antinómiái. In Varga Csaba (szerk.) Jog és filozófia. Osiris Kiadó. Budapest, 1998.
- 152. Rae, Scott B.: Erkölcsi döntések bevezetés az etikába. Harmat kiadó. Budapest, 2015.
- 153. Ratzsch, Del: Miből lesz a tudomány bevezetés a tudományfilozófiába. Harmat Kiadó. Budapest, 2002. 49.
- 154. Rost Andrea: a fiatalkorú bűnözés kriminológiája és szociológiája. L'Harmattan Kiadó. Budapest, 2014.
- 155. Rudolf Ottó: A szent. Osiris kiadó. Budapest, 1997.
- 156. Sack, G. Peter: Law & Custom on the Relations Between English Law and the English Language. (Ford: Szabó Miklós) Rechtstheorie 18 (1987) 421-436 oak. In Varga Csaba: Összehasonlító jogi kultúrák. Osiris Kiadó. Budapest, 2000.
- 157. Schenk a Grafenberg János: De morbo Ungarico, Lues Pannóniáé, vulgo cerebri vermis (Observ. Medic, tomus alter). Frankfurt.
- 158. Schmal Dániel: A kezdet nélküli kezdet Descartes és a kartezianizmus problémái. Gondolat Kiadó. Budapest 2012.
- 159. Schmitt, Carl: Die Wendung zum diskriminierenden Kriegsbegriff, Duncker & Humblot. Berlin, 1988. In Habermas Jürgen: Esszé Európa alkotmányáról. Atlantisz Kiadó. Budapest, 2012.
- Schopenhauer, Arthur: Az akarat szabadságáról (ford. Szabó Károly). Thália Kiadó.
 Budapest, 1906.
- 161. Schreiber Emil: A Prostitúció. Budapest, Pátria Kiadó. 1917.
- 162. Schultz Simon: De morbo hungarico saevissimis symytomatibus stipato. (Miscell. cur. med. phys. acad. nat. cur. annus tertius.) Lipsiae et Frankof., 1673.
- 163. Schüller János György: De morbo endemio hagymaz oder Hitzigen Haupt- Kranckheit. Halae Magdeb., 1726.
- 164. Schwab, Keresztely Joachim: Remedia tarn praeservativa, quam curativa, contra luem pestiferam in Hungária grassantem. Leutscho- viae, 1710.
- 165. Seneca, Lucius Annæus: Erkölcsi levelek. (fordította: Barcza József I. és II. kötet) Franklin Társulat, Magyar Irodalmi Intézet és Könyvnyomda. Budapest, 1906.
- 166. Simonka Gábor: Az Elsőfokú Bíróság ítélete a Yusuf-ügyben (EJ, 2007/3., 39-46.)
- 167. Sipos László: A gyermek és a bűn. Tanulmányok a gyermekvédelem, a gyermek, mint áldozat és a gyermekbűnözés témaköréből. Debrecen, Debreceni Egyetemi Kiadó 2012.
- Somló Bódog: Jogbölcseleti előadásai. I. Füzet. Kolozsvár. Sonnenfeld Adolf könyv- és műnyomdája. Nagyvárad, 1906. 37.

- 169. Spengler, Oswald: A nyugat alkonya I. és II. kötet. Noran Libro Kiadó, 2011.
- 170. Stanton, Gregory: A fajirtás nyolc szakasza. In: Pucsi Barna Gyula: A cigánykérdés gyökeres és végleges megoldása. Csokonai Kiadó. Budapest, 2004.
- 171. Szajbély Katalin: A faji alapú diszkrimináció tilalma. In Ember Jogi enciklopédia (szerk: Lamm Vanda) HVG-ORAC Kiadó. Budapest, 2018.
- 172. Szekfű Gyula (szerk.): Mi a magyar? Magyar Szemle Társaság. Budapest, 1939.
- 173. Szilágyi Péter: Jogi alaptan. Osiris Kiadó, Budapest, 2006.
- 174. Szilvay Gergely: A genderelmélet kritikája. Alapjogokért Központ Kiadó. 2020.
- 175. Szomora Zsolt Törő Sándor: Kommentár a Büntető Törvénykönyvhöz (2012) Kommentár a Büntető Törvénykönyvről szóló 2012. évi C. törvényhez. Wolters Kluwer Kiadó. Budapest, 2017.
- 176. Szűcs Ferenc: Teológiai Etika. A Nemzetközi Theológiai Könyv sorozatának 11. Kötete. Református Zsinati Iroda Kiadó. Budapest, 1993.
- 177. Tartsay W. Izabella: A kísérleti akaratvizsgálatok fejlődése. Királyi Magyar Egyetemi Nyomda. Budapest, 1938.
- 178. Tocqueville, Alexis de: Az amerikai demokrácia. Európai könyvkiadó. Budapest, 1993.
- 179. Trócsányi László: Előszó, a Nemzeti alkotmányok az Európai Unióban c. kötethez (Heka László - Jakó Nóra, - Mikes Lili - Pongó Tamás - Szakály Zsuzsa) Wolters Kluwer kiadó. Budapest, 2016.
- 180. Uljanov, Vlagyimir Iljics: Állam és forradalom a marxizmus tanítása az államról és a proletariátus feladatai a forradalomban. Magyar Helikon Kiadó. Budapest, 1967.
- 181. Uljanov, Vlagyimir Iljics: Lenin Magyarországról. Franklin Kiadó. Budapest, 1954.
- 182. Varga Csaba: A jog, mint logika, rendszer és technika. Osiris Kiadó. Budapest, 2000.
- 183. Varga Csaba: Jog és filozófia. Osiris Kiadó. Budapest, 1998.
- 184. Varga Csaba: Jogi kultúránk európai és globális távlatban. In Európai jog és jogfilozófia Tanulmányok az európai integráció ötvenedik évfordulójának ünnepére. Paksy Máté(szerk.) Budapest, 2008.
- 185. Varga Csaba: Jogrendszerek jogi gondolkodásmódok az európai egységesülés perspektívájában. Szent István Társulat Könyv Kiadó. Budapest, 2009.
- 186. Vaskúti András: "Szabadság és emberi méltóság elleni bűncselekmények" A Büntető Törvénykönyv magyarázata (szerk: Jakucs Tamás) KJK, Budapest, 2004.
- 187. Vasold Manfred: Pest, Not und Schwere Plagen. Seuchen und Epidemien vom Mittelalter bis heute. München. G. H. Beck 1991.

- 188. Williams Patrick: Cigány házasság. In: Prónai Csaba (sorozat szerk.): Cigányok Európában 3. Franciaország. Új Mandátum L'Harmattan MTA Etnikai-Nemzeti Kisebbségkutató Intézet Kiadó. Budapest, 2005.
- 189. Williams, Patrick: La société. In: Ligéeois, Jean Perre (szerk.): Les population tsiganes en France. Centre de Rechercehs Tsiganes. Paris, 1981.
- 190. Zahn, Teodor: Skizzen aus dem Leben der Alten Kirche. Erlangen Leipzig 1894.
- 191. Zakariás Kinga: Emberi méltósághoz való jog. In Emberjogi enciklopédia (szerk. Lamm Vanda). HVG-ORAC Kiadó. Budapest, 2018.
- 192. Zimbardo, Philip Coulombe D. Nikita: Nincs kapcsolat. Hová lettek a férfiak? Libri Kiadó. Budapest, 2016.

8. List of publications directly related to the dissertation

- Kubisch Károly: Az emberkereskedelem törvényi tényállásának új szabályozási aspektusai. In: Baráth, Noémi Emőke; Mezei, József (szerk.) Rendészet-Tudomány-Aktualitások: A rendészettudomány a fiatal kutatók szemével 2020. Budapest, Magyarország: Doktoranduszok Országos Szövetsége (DOSZ) (2020) 273 p. pp. 113-124., 16 p.
- 2. Kubisch Károly: Gondolatok a bűnszervezetben kizsákmányolási célzattal elkövetett emberkereskedelemről In: Miskolczi, Bodnár Péter (szerk.) XII. Jogász Doktoranduszok Országos Szakmai Találkozója Budapest, Magyarország: Károli Gáspár Református Egyetem Állam- és Jogtudományi Kar, (2018) pp. 166-184., 18 p.
- 3. Kubisch Károly: A totalitárius rendszerek és az emberkereskedelem kapcsolata: Gondolatok a holokauszt és az emberkereskedelem összefüggéseihez In: Miskolczi, Bodnár Péter (szerk.) XIII. Jogász Doktoranduszok Országos Szakmai Találkozója Budapest, Magyarország: Károli Gáspár Református Egyetem Állam- és Jogtudományi Kar, (2018) pp. 97-112.
- 4. Kubisch Károly: A migráció és az emberkereskedelem összefüggései Az Európai Unió és az Emberi Jogok Európai Egyezménye In: Miskolczi Bodnár, Péter (szerk.) XI. Jogász Doktoranduszok Országos Szakmai Találkozója: 2016 Budapest, Magyarország: Károli Gáspár Református Egyetem Állam- és Jogtudományi Kar, (2018) pp. 59-75.
- 5. Kubisch Károly: Gyermekvédelem, mint az emberkereskedelem megelőzésének eszköze. In: Miskolczi, Bodnár Péter (szerk.) XIV. Jogász Doktoranduszok Országos

- Szakmai Találkozója Budapest, Magyarország: Károli Gáspár Református Egyetem, Állam- és Jogtudományi Kar, (2019) pp. 187-211.
- 6. Kubisch Károly: Az emberkereskedelem tárgyi súlyának társadalmi megítélése MAGYAR RENDÉSZET 16: 1 pp. 77-95., 19 p. (2016)
- 7. Kubisch Károly: Az emberkereskedelem szabályozási kérdései és minősítése a gyakorlatban. In: Bragyova, András (szerk.) Miskolci Doktorandusz Konferencia Tanulmánykötet. Miskolc, Magyarország: Bíbor Kiadó, (2017) pp. 94-105.
- 8. Kubisch Károly: A bűnszervezetben elkövetett emberkereskedelem felderítése és nyomozása HADTUDOMÁNYI SZEMLE XI. évfolyam: 1. szám (2018) pp. 325-341.p.
- 9. Kubisch Károly: A bűnszervezetben elkövetett emberkereskedelem nyomozásának kriminalisztikai kérdései: Egy tartalomkutatási projekt összefoglalása In: Prof., Dr. Szabó Miklós (szerk.) Studia Iurisprudentiae Doctorandorum Miskolciensium Tomus 18. Miskolc, Magyarország: Bíbor Kiadó, (2019) pp. 97-115.
- Kubisch Károly: Az emberkereskedelem módosult tényállásának, valamint az elkövetési módok bizonyításának nehézségei, (Szakdolgozat - Témavezető: Czine Ágnes) (2014) 84 p.

9. Other publications

- 11. Kubisch Károly: A véleménynyilvánítás szabadsága a XXI. században. In. KRE-DIt 2020/2 Jogtudományi tanulmányok pp 1-69 Paper 2020/2. (2020)
- 12. Kubisch Károly: Az alternatív vitarendezési mód kérdései az ókorban: Az ókori római és az ősi héber választottbíráskodás hasonlóságai és eltérései. Paper: 15, 11 p. (2015)
- 13. Kubisch Károly: A jó állam, jó kormányzás: Gondolatok a jó és a rossz kormányzás elméleti kérdéseihez In: Sápi, Edit (szerk.) Jogalkotás és jogalkalmazás a XXI. század Európájában III. Miskolc, Magyarország: Doktoranduszok Országos Szövetsége, (2017) pp. 79-97.
- 14. Kubisch Károly: Az okozati összefüggés vizsgálata a foglalkozás körében elkövetett veszélyeztetés bűncselekményének esetében In: Deres, Petronella; Grad-Gyenge, Anikó (szerk.) Acta Iuvenum Caroliensia VI. Budapest, Magyarország: Károli Gáspár Református Egyetem Állam- és Jogtudományi Kar, (2015) pp. 301-350.